FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/13/2021 12:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99643-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

APPELLATE CASE NO. 37484-0-III

IBRAHIM A. ABDULWAHID, Petitioner

v.

EASTERN STATE HOSPITAL, a division of WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES, a Washington State Agency; and PHILLIP PRICE,

Respondent

AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT NO. 99643-1

HOWARD M. NEILL WSBA No. 05296
AITKEN, SCHAUBLE, PATRICK, NEILL & SCHAUBLE
Attorney for Petitioner
NE 165 Kamiaken, Suite 210 / P.O. Box 307
Pullman WA 99163
Telephone: (509) 334-3505 Fax: (509) 334-5367

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ibrahim A. Abdulwahid, asks this court to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision designated in Issues Presented For Review of this Petition.

DECISION

The Division III of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Whitman County Superior Court, Case Number 15 2 00139 4 entered by the Court of Appeals on February 9, 2021; and the Order Denying Motion For Reconsideration entered March 11, 2021. A copy of the Court Of Appeals decision, Appendix I, and the denial of the motion for reconsideration, Appendix II, are attached.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The decision is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court, namely:

Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); Baldwin v. Sisters of

Providence, 112 Wn.2d 127,132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989);

Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152

(1977); Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co, 94 Wn. 2d 298, 302,
616 P.2d 1223 (1980); Parkin v. Colocousis, 53 Wn.App.
649, 769 P. 2d 326 (1989); and Zamora v. Mobil Oil

Corporation, 104 Wn.2d 199, 208-209, 704 P.2d 584

(1985).

- 2. The Court of Appeals erred in determining that
 Respondent made a prima facie showing that Petitioner
 lacked evidence to establish an essential element of his
 case without facts or pointing to the record. Opinion 6-8
- The Court of Appeals erred in finding that an expert
 was necessary to to support Petitioner's case. Opinion 9-
- The Court of Appeals erred in finding that res ipsa loquitur did not cerate a genuine issue of material fact.
 Opinion 13-14

5. The Court of Appeals erred in not allowing a continuance to obtain discovery and to provide additional information from his expert. Opinion 14-15.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

Petitioner filed suit on July 9, 2015. CP 1-4. Eastern State Hospital, hereafter Respondent, submitted discovery to Petitioner on August 21, 2015. CP 58. A CR 26(i) conference was held on June 8, 2017. CP 58. No action was taken by Respondent to compel the answers to discovery until February 12, 2020, 48 days after its summary judgment motion was filed. CP 55-56. On December 26, 2019, Respondent filed a declaration of Jacob Brooks, Assistant Attorney General representing Respondent, stating that Petitioner had not responded to the discovery previously submitted. CP 13-14. Respondent filed its motion for summary judgment December 26, 2019. CP 16-19. The motion alleges that Petitioner lacked

competent evidence to make a prima facie case of professional negligence. CP 16. Petitioner responded to the motion alleging that Respondent had not met its initial burden for its motion; that expert testimony was not necessary; and that Respondent owed a duty to protect Petitioner. CP 38-43. In addition, Petitioner further submitted the affidavit of Petitioner outlining the breach of duty by Respondent and the causal connection of the breach that resulted in Petitioners injuries. CP 44-46. The hearing on Respondents motion was scheduled for January 29. 2020. CP 11. Petitioner filed a Motion to Reset Hearing on the motion for summary judgment due to counsels unavailability on the January 29, 2020 date. CP 23. On January 16, 2020, Petitioner then filed a Motion To Continue Summary Judgment Hearing to allow time to receive an experts opinion on the standard of care and review the information from the expert after counsels return from vacation. CP 29-37. The court granted the motion on February 5, 2020. CP 54 After

consulting with Petitioners expert, more information was requested and a new Motion To File Late Declaration; or Reset Summary Judgment Hearing based upon additional information requested by Petitioners expert and outstanding interrogatories and requests for production previously submitted to respondent on January 20, 2020, was filed on February 21, 2020. CP 67-70. On February 27, 2020 the court granted Respondents motion for summary judgment, dismissing Petitioners claim. CP 80-81. Petitioner timely filed a motion for reconsideration, CP 82-84. The motion was denied. CP 89. Petitioner appealed to Division III of the Court of Appeals. CP 90-97. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Appendix I. Petitioner submitted a motion for reconsideration, which was denied. Appendix II.

II. FACTS FOR SUIT:

Petitioner was a patient at Eastern State Hospital in July, 2012. He was assaulted by another patient in the afternoon and he reported this to the staff, requesting to be moved to another location. The staff did not move him. Later that evening, he was assaulted a second time by the same individual, resulting in serious physical injuries. CP 1-4 and CP 44-46.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1. The decisions of the Court of Appeals is contrary to and in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1);
- 2. There is an issue of substantial public interest for the clarification of the CR 56(c), burden on the moving party in moving for summary judgment. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

STANDARD FOR REVIEW:

In reviewing a trial courts order on summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court; that summary judgment should be granted if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Disputed facts are considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Afoa v*.

Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 466, 296 P.3d 800 (2013).

FAILURE OF MOVING PARTY TO MEET BURDEN:

The Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have held that the burden is on the moving party to establish either by facts or pointing to the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admission on file, that there is no genuine issue of material fact. Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). If the burden is not met, then summary judgment should not be granted. Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence, 112 Wn.2d 127,132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989) (no reference to the record nor affidavit); Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) (no affidavit or reference to the record); Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co, 94 Wn. 2d 298, 302, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980) (no reference to the record and statement of counsel did not establish facts); Parkin v. Colocousis, 53 Wn.App. 649, 769 P. 2d 326 (1989) (conclusory statement of defendant that he had met the standard of care, without factual support or reference to the record); and *Zamora* v. *Mobil Oil Corporation*, 104 Wn.2d 199, 208-209, 704 P.2d 584 (1985) (defendant statement that it met the code standard for odorization of gas was inconclusive)

In this case, Respondent has not set forth a factual basis for its motion, other than Petitioner had not answered discovery. Respondent did not met its initial burden for summary judgment and the judgment should not have been granted. *Jacobsen v. State*, supra.

CONCLUSORY FACTS TO SUPPORT MOTION:

In several cases, the facts set forth by the moving party have been held to not be sufficient, since they are conclusions without any supporting facts. See *Parkin*, *supra*. at 653-654 and *Graves*, *supra*. at 302

In the case at bar, Respondents have only set forth a conclusion, unsupported by the record, that Petitioner did not

have an expert to establish the standard of care. Since there had been no motion to compel answers to interrogatories that they could point to the court, then the initial burden had not been met by the conclusory statement of Respondents attorney. CP 13-19. The initial burden on the moving party not having been met, then the burden neither shifted to Petitioner nor did the obligation to respond. *Parkin, supra.,* and *Graves, supra...*

NECESSITY OF AN EXPERT/ RES IPSA LOQUITUR

1. EXPERT:

This case is a hospital negligence case. At issue is whether the Petitioner must establish the standard of care by medical experts or whether the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is available to prove Petitioner case.

A medical expert is not necessary when the negligence of the defendant is observable by a lay individual without medical training. *Shellenbarger v. Brigman*, 101 Wn.App. 339, 347, 3 P.3d 211 (2000).

To prevail in a hospital negligence case, the Petitioner must establish a duty, a breach of that duty, injury, and that the breach of the duty was a proximate cause of the injury. *Miller v. Jacoby*, 145 Wn.2d 65, 74, 33 P.3d 68 (2001)

Respondent owed Petitioner the duty to protect him from injuries by other patients. *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997), the court held that a special relationship existed between a hospital and its patients where

- (a) a special relation exists between the actor and the third person which imposes a duty upon the actor to control the third person's conduct, or
- (b) a special relation exist between the actor and the other which gives to the other a right to protection"
 Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 315 (1965)

The case dealt with a patient in a group home for developmentally disabled persons who was raped by an employee of the nursing home. It was found that the special duty of the nursing home existed to protect it's patients and that it was responsible for not providing that protection.

2. RES IPSA LOQUITUR:

Res ipsa loquitur as applied to the facts of this case also eliminates the necessity of expert testimony. *Miller, supra*. at 74 held:

"For res ipsa loquitur to apply, the following three criteria must be met:

(1) [T]he occurrence producing the injury must be of the kind which ordinally does not occur in the absences of negligence; (2) the injury is caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant; and (3) the injury-causing occurrence must not be due to an contribution on the part of the plaintiff." (Citations omitted)

Res ipsa loquitur was applied and held to be proper in *Ripley v. Lanzer* 152 Wn.App. 296, 308-309, 215 P.3d 1020 (2009). In that case, the doctor's scalpel broke and he failed to remove all of the broken scalpel pieces from his patient. Res ipsa loquitur was applied to the case when plaintiff withdrew all medical experts and proceeded solely on the doctrine. On appeal, after summary judgment was granted in favor of the doctor by the trial court, the court reversed, holding:

"Generally, expert testimony is necessary to establish the standard of care for a health care provider in a medical malpractice action. Expert testimony is not necessary to establish the standard of care when medical facts are observable to a layperson and describable without medical training. For example, "the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur provides an inference of negligence from the occurrence itself which establishes a prima facie case sufficient to present a question for the jury."

"The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur recognizes that an accident may be of such a nature, or may happen under such circumstances, that the occurrence is of itself sufficient to establish prima facie the fact of negligence on the part of the defendant, without further direct proof. Thus, it casts upon the defendant the duty to come forward with an exculpatory explanation, rebutting or otherwise overcoming the presumption or inference of negligence on his part." (citations omitted). *Ripley, supra.* at 306-307

Whether the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is applicable to a particular case is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Id.*, at 308

Although our case is not a foreign object case, it is analogous to the slip and fall cases where the defendant is on notice of a defect and fails to take action to repair the defect.

Brant v. Market Basket Stores, Inc.72 Wn. 2d 446, 433 P.2d 863 (1967). A slip and fall case affirming a dismissal of the suit. The standard addressed was that as a prerequisite to

liability, the defendant knew of the danger or should have known of the danger in time to have remedied the situation before the party was injured. *Id.*, at 452.

Here, after the Respondent had knowledge of the first assault by Mr. Price on Petitioner and failed to take any action to control Mr. Price or to protect Petitioner, a duty was created. By not moving Petitioner or isolating Mr. Price, this set in motion the breach of the duty. A hospital has an obligation to control safeguard, protect and supervise it's patients. *Niece*. supra. Petitioner did nothing to contribute to the assault perpetrated on him by Mr. Price. CP 44-47. Respondent was on notice of the dangerous proclivity of Mr. Price toward Petitioner. These facts speak for themselves. Petitioner has established his hospital negligence claim against Respondent. without the necessity of an expert to establish the standard of care. Therefore there existed a genuine issue of material fact.

CONTINUANCE / LATE FILING:

Petitioner moved for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing or to allow the late filing of an opinion declaration and to receive outstanding discovery from Respondent. CP 67-70. In *Perez-Crisantos v. State*Farm, 187 Wn.2d 669, 389 P. 3d 479 (2017) where plaintiff requested an continuance of the summary judgment hearing to allow the receipt of additional discovery from defendant. It was held pursuant to CR 56(f) the motion for a continuance should be granted if the requesting party has a good reason for delay in obtaining the evidence; that the evidence could be established by further discovery, or the new evidence would raise a genuine issue of fact. *Id.*, at 686.

The trial court denied the additional Request For

Continuance and the Request To Allow A Late Filing. RP pg 8,

ln 10-11. In reviewing the denial of a motion for continuance
the standard is whether the denial is a manifest abuse of

discretion. Lewis v. Bell, 45 Wn.App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d 425 (1986).

Petitioner requested the continuance, to obtain the written expert's opinion, should the same be deemed necessary by the court, and also to receive outstanding discovery responses that were due from Respondent. CP 70. *Cofer v. County of Pierce*, 8 Wn.App. 258, 262, 505 P.2d 476 (1973), held that a court has a duty to grant a party a reasonable opportunity to complete its discovery before ruling on a motion for summary judgment. See also *Durand v. HIMC Corp.*, 151 Wn. App. 818, 828, 214 P.3d 189 (2009).

The comment on CR 56(f) provides that a continuance of summary judgment hearings should be liberally construed to allow "a just determination in every action." *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

In liberally construing the Motion For Continuance of the February 27, 2020 Summary Judgment hearing, it was a manifest abuse of discretion to deny the continuance. Had the court considered the Petitioner's need to receive Respondent's outstanding discovery responses and Petitioner's request for additional time to procure the expert's written opinion, if deemed necessary, it would have resulted in a more just determination of the action on it's merits.

In *Keck v. Collins, supra* at 366, the Plaintiff sought to file an additional opinion affidavit on the day before the hearing on summary judgment or to continuance the hearing. The request was denied. However, it was held that the court neglected to consider the *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) factors in reaching its decision to exclude the late filed affidavit. Those factors being whether a lesser sanction would probably suffice, whether the violation was willful or deliberate, and whether the violation substantially prejudiced the opposing party. *Keck, supra.* at 368-369. In our case, none of these factors were addressed by the court. The

denial of the Motion To Continue should be considered a manifest abuse of discretion, as there was no willful or deliberate violation by Petitioner in submitting a timely opinion letter, to the extent it was necessary. The delay would not have substantially prejudiced the Respondent, since the trial date was still months away. The sanction that was imposed, "not allowing the continuance or the late filing" resulted in the greatest sanction of all, that being the complete denial of the ability to have a just determination in the action. The *Keck* decision went on to provide:

But "our overriding responsibility is to interpret the rules in a way that advances the underlying purpose of the rules, which is to reach a just determination in every action." [citation omitted]. The "purpose [of summary judgment] is not to cut litigants off from their right to trial by jury if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial, it is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exists." [citations omitted]. supra, at 369

The trial court abused its discretion in not allowing

Petitioner to either obtain a continuance or to file a late

affidavit. The *Burnet* factors were not addressed by the court as required in order to grant a summary judgment. This failure was a manifest abuse of discretion. *Lewis, supra* at 196.

CONCLUSION:

The decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals is contrary to the decision of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. The decision of both the Court of Appeals and of the trial court should be reversed and remanded to the trial court.

Respondent failed to meet its initial burden in moving for summary judgment without setting forth a factual basis for the motion or pointing to the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admission on file, together with the affidavits, if any. CR 56(c), *Young, supra., Graves, supra., Zamora, supra., Parkin, supra., Baldwin, supra.*. The summary judgment should be reversed on this ground alone.

In the event that the decision should not be reversed on the

foregoing grounds, then the court should consider the following issues, which also support the reversal of the decision of both the trial court and the Court of Appeals.

- 1. The need for an expert to establish Petitioners case should not have been required. The failure to protect Petitioner from assaults by another patient once the Respondent had knowledge of the first assault, was a genuine issue of material fact and summary judgment should not have been entered.

 Miller, supra. and Niece, supra..
- 2. Res Ipsa Loquitur is also applicable to Petitioners claim. *Miller, supra., and Ripley, supra.*. Negligence has been shown based upon the non actions of Respondent. This was a genuine issue of material fact.
- 3. Petitioner request for a continuance should have been granted. Petitioner had both outstanding discovery, as well as, a request for additional time to receive responses from his expert, once the discovery was completed. CR 56(f); *Perez-*

Crisantos, supra., Cofer, supra., Durand, supra., and Keck, supra...

4. Petitioners request to file a late affidavit from his expert should have been granted. Petitioners discovery had not been completed and the factors to be considered by the trial court in denying the request were not addressed by the court. *Keck, supra., Burnet., supra.*

Finally, the Division III Court of Appeals decision allows a moving party on a summary judgment motion to have met its burden to shift the burden to the nonmoving party with conclusory facts and without pointing the court to the "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file", thereby setting a new standard for the moving party, this not consistent with prior Washington law. *Young, supra* ..