# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2021 1:07 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99643-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IBRAHIM A. ABDULWAHID,

Petitioner,

v.

EASTERN STATE HOSPITAL, et al,

Respondents.

## STATE RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

HEIDI S. HOLLAND Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 27264 Office of the Attorney General 1116 West Riverside Ave., Ste. 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 Phone: (509) 456-2773 OID No.: 91106

### **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Conflict With Controlling Authority

Abdulwahid's suggestion that "clarification" of CR 56(c) is an issue of substantial public interest is misplaced. If ever there were a well-settled area of law, it would be as to summary judgment standard, and both the Court of Appeals and trial court followed CR 56 and binding precedent. They both found that, in response to the Hospital's motion, Abdulwahid lacked competent medical evidence to make out a prima facie case of medical malpractice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On a different issue, *Petersen* has been superseded by statute, as recognized in *Magney v. Truc Pham*, 195 Wn.2d 795, 466 P.3d 1077 (2020).

The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trials where insufficient evidence exists. *Pelton v. Tri-State Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 66 Wn. App. 350, 355, 831 P.2d 1147 (1992) (citing *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)). In medical malpractice cases, a defendant may move for summary judgment two ways: (1) by setting forth its version of facts and alleging that there is no genuine issue as to those facts, or (2) "inform[ing] the trial court that the plaintiff lacks competent evidence to support an essential element of [his] case." *Boyer v. Morimoto*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 506, 519, 449 P.3d 285, 292, *review denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1022, 455 P.3d 121 (2020). Thereafter, the burden "shifts to the plaintiff to provide an affidavit *from a qualified medical expert witness* that alleges specific facts establishing a cause of action." *Id.* at 520 (emphasis added).

Notably, Abdulwahid ignores this Court's directive in *Young*: "A defendant may move for summary judgment on the ground the plaintiff lacks competent medical evidence to make out a prima facie case of medical malpractice." 112 Wn.2d at 226; *see also Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 110-11, 26 P.3d 257 (2001) ("Expert testimony will generally be necessary to establish the standard of care and most elements of causation.").

Medical defendants are not required to support their motion with affidavits. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 226. Rather, "[t]he moving defendant may meet the initial burden by showing—that is, pointing out to the court—that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." *Id.* at 225 n.1. That is precisely what the Hospital did in this matter. By declaration of two assistant attorneys general, it "point[ed] out to the court" that Abdulwahid did not have the requisite testimony of a medical expert to establish the standard of care for an inpatient mental hospital or causation. CP 13-15, 58-60; *see Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225 n.1.

The Court of Appeals held, "The hospital's demonstration that Mr. Abdulwahid failed to respond for well over three years to discovery seeking his expert's identification and opinions satisfied its burden in moving for summary judgment." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 7. The decision followed the clear directives of CR 56 and established precedent of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Abdulwahid is not entitled to review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4).

# B. Abdulwahid Failed to Present Evidence Establishing a Genuine Issue of Material Fact

Despite his protestations that it was a "conclusory statement" to say he could not produce expert medical testimony as to standard of care and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Am. Pet. for Review at 8.

causation, it is <u>undisputed</u> that he failed to do so. Once the Hospital met its initial burden under CR 56, the burden shifted to Abdulwahid "to provide an affidavit from a qualified medical expert witness that alleges specific facts establishing a cause of action." *Boyer*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 520. He never did so.

Further, while expert testimony is not required in some limited circumstances, Abdulwahid failed to offer evidence of a gross deviation from ordinary care such that a lay person could easily recognize it. Finally, Abdulwahid failed to demonstrate facts sufficient to support the application of res ipsa loquitor. The Court of Appeals decision followed this Court's established precedent requiring more than conclusory allegations in response to a motion for summary judgment and does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Abdulwahid is not entitled to review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

### 1. Abdulwahid failed to present the requisite evidence of a standard of care he contended was breached

Abdulwahid's failure to offer *any* evidence of the relevant standard of care was dispositive of his claim of medical negligence. RCW 7.70.030(1) specifically provides that in a medical negligence case, to establish liability, a plaintiff must prove "injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care."

RCW 7.70.030(1).<sup>6</sup> Further, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, under RCW 7.70.040, a plaintiff has the burden of proving "the defendant health care provider 'failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances,' and that '[s]uch failure was a proximate cause of the injury complained of." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 8; *see also Harris*, 99 Wn.2d at 449 (construing RCW 7.70.040). Generally, expert testimony is required because jurors lack the knowledge and experience to determine violation of the standard of care. 99 Wn.2d at 449.

Despite claiming he had retained an expert, Abdulwahid never offered a declaration from one. "The whole purpose of summary judgment procedure would be defeated if a case could be forced to trial by a mere assertion that an issue exists without any showing of evidence." *W.G. Platts, Inc. v. Platts*, 73 Wn.2d 434, 443, 438 P.2d 867 (1968). Abdulwahid filed suit in July 2015. He was "on notice since receiving the hospital's discovery in August 2015 that [the Hospital] would probably hold him to his burden of presenting expert testimony. The need to line up an expert should have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As the Court of Appeals noted, "For purposes of the statute, "health care providers" include hospitals. RCW 7.70.020(3)." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 8.

taken on new urgency when the hospital requested a CR 26(i) conference." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 15. In December 2019, the Hospital filed its motion for summary judgment. "By February 27, 2020, Mr. Abdulwahid did not have in hand even the declaration of a qualified expert suggesting that the expert was familiar with the Washington standard of care and close to being in a position to provide opinion testimony in support of Mr. Abdulwahid's claim." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 15.7 There is no dispute; Abdulwahid never presented the requisite competent expert testimony establishing the Hospital's standard of care and causation.

# 2. Abdulwahid failed to establish evidence of a gross deviation from the standard of care recognizable by a layperson

There are limited circumstances where a deviation from the standard of care is so obvious that it does not require expert testimony. This is not one of those cases. Abdulwahid, however, argues without authority that when a special relationship exists, there is no requirement to prove the applicable standard of care. As the Court of Appeals noted, Abdulwahid "conflates the existence of a mental health care provider's 'special relation'

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It is not enough for a proposed expert to make an "educated assumption that the standard of care was the same across the country." *Boyer*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 523 (quoting *Winkler*, 146 Wn. App. at 392); *see also* RCW 7.70.040 (requiring proof of violation of standard of care in the state of Washington).

with medical negligence that can be proved without expert testimony. They are two different things." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 9.

It is not enough for there to be a duty; to establish negligence, a plaintiff must prove the defendant deviated from the relevant standard of care. *Amend v. Bell*, 89 Wn.2d 124, 132, 570 P.2d 138 (1977). In parsing out Abdulwahid's muddling of duty and standard of care, the Court of Appeals explained,

The significance of a special relation is that it gives rise to a duty to prevent a third party from causing harm to another that does not otherwise exist. A claim stemming from a mental healthcare provider's breach of this duty is a medical negligence claim.

*Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 9-10 (citing *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 255, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)).

"Medical facts in particular must be proven by expert testimony unless they are 'observable by [a layperson's] senses and describable without medical training." *Harris*, 99 Wn.2d at 449. For example, technical medical expertise is not required to establish the standard of care in cases where a physician amputates the wrong limb or pokes a patient in the eye while stitching a wound on the face. *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 111, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

The Hospital acknowledges it has a duty to care for and protect its patients. Whether it did so must be measured against the standard of care of

a reasonably prudent inpatient psychiatric hospital in Washington. *See Harris*, 99 Wn.2d 438 (construing RCW 7.70.040). Managing both the individual treatment needs and safety of patients in a psychiatric hospital is complicated and "'[t]he foreseeability of the victim, as well as what actions are required to fulfill this duty, is informed by the standards of the mental health profession." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 10 (quoting *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 449). A lay jury should not be left to decide for itself the acceptable standard of care for the Hospital. *See Harris*, 99 Wn.2d at 449.

Further, Abdulwahid offers no evidence to demonstrate that the Hospital so grossly deviated "from ordinary care that a lay person could easily recognize it." *See Petersen*, 100 Wn.2d at 437. Unlike in *Petersen*, Abdulwahid "offered no clinical diagnoses of [P.P.] or evidence that he had dangerous propensities." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 12. And, while "[h]is own complaint [alleged] the hospital 'knew or should have known that [P.P.] presented an unreasonable risk of harm to other patients . . . the only evidence Mr. Abdulwahid offered of the hospital's notice was . . . that he requested a room change and attributed it to being struck by [P.P.]." *Id*. Even Abdulwahid's proposed expert was not willing to opine that that was sufficient to establish negligence. *See* CP 68.

Abdulwahid failed to meet his burden "to provide an affidavit from a qualified medical expert witness that alleges specific facts establishing a cause of action." *See Boyer*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 520. The Court of Appeals, following *Petersen*, held that because Abdulwahid failed "to present evidence of 'such a gross deviation from ordinary care that a lay person could easily recognize it,' he needed expert testimony." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 12. Accordingly, his Petition does not warrant review.

# 3. Abdulwahid failed to offer evidence of circumstances supporting an inference of negligence under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur

The trial court and Court of Appeals both followed this Court's established precedent in rejecting Abdulwahid's attempt to infer negligence and causation by application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur frees a plaintiff from proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent. *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003). For the doctrine to apply, a plaintiff must satisfy three elements: "(1) [T]he occurrence producing the injury must be of a kind which ordinarily does not occur in the absence of negligence; (2) the injury is caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant; and (3) the injury-causing occurrence must not be due to any contribution on the part

of the plaintiff." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 13 (quoting *Miller*, 145 Wn.2d at 74).

The first criterion may be satisfied in one of three ways:

(1) [w]hen the act causing the injury is so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law, i.e., leaving foreign objects, sponges, scissors, etc., in the body, or amputation of a wrong member; (2) when the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence; and (3) when proof by experts in an esoteric field creates an inference that negligence caused the injuries.

Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist., 191 Wn.2d 79, 90, 419 P.3d 819 (2018) (negligent diagnosis and improper treatment could not be inferred, but required comparison to standard of care); see also Miller, 145 Wn.2d at 75.

Relying on *Miller*, the Court of Appeals found that Abdulwahid had failed to offer evidence to satisfy the criteria for applying the doctrine. *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 13-14. It explained, "An injury caused by an assault by another patient in a mental health facility is not an injury of a kind that ordinarily would not occur absent negligence." This point is accentuated by the fact that Dr. Rubaye would not automatically assign negligence based simply on Abdulwahid's description of what occurred. *See id.* at 12.

As to the second criterion, whether the instrumentality is within the exclusive control of the defendant, the Court of Appeals held, "while [P.P.], as an inpatient, was subject to the hospital's authority and control, that is

not the same as saying that his actions were within the hospital's exclusive control. It was [P.P.'s] independent, not hospital-controlled, actions that caused Mr. Abdulwahid's injury." *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 13. "Finally, the basis on which the res ipsa loquitur doctrine will permit an inference of negligence is when evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person. Mr. Abdulwahid is not alleging that the cause of his injuries is not knowable to him." *Id.* at 13-14 (citing *Pacheco*, 149 Wn.2d at 436). Yet, Abdulwahid offered nothing but bare allegations about what the Hospital knew and did or did not do.<sup>8</sup>

The purpose of summary judgment "is to avoid a useless trial. It is to test, in advance of trial, whether evidence to sustain the allegations in the complaint actually exists." *W.G. Platts, Inc.*, 73 Wn.2d at 442-43. "Mere allegations, argumentative assertions, conclusory statements, and speculation do not raise issues of material fact that preclude a grant of summary judgment." *Greenhalgh v. Dep't of Corr.*, 160 Wn. App. 706, 714, 248 P.3d 150 (2011). Further, this Court has cautioned that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitor should be "sparingly applied, in peculiar and exceptional"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Tellingly, and in violation of RAP 10.3(a)(6), Abdulwahid argues *without citation to the record* what actions he alleges the Hospital took or failed to take. Am. Pet. for Review at 13. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (argument without reference to the record is not entitled to review).

cases," *Curtis v Lein*, 169 Wn.2d 884, 889-90, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010), and the Court of Appeals' opinion was not in conflict with this Court's precedent. It correctly held that Abdulwahid's failure to establish the requisite elements of res ipsa loquitur precluded him from being relieved from the requirement to provide expert medical evidence to survive the Hospital's summary judgment motion.

### C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Denying Abdulwahid's Request for a Third Continuance

Abdulwahid's argument that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his motion for a continuance is not supported by the law or the facts. Further, it ignores his failure to create a record to justify a continuance, as contemplated by CR 56(f). "In deciding a motion to continue, the trial court takes into account a number of factors, including diligence, due process, the need for an orderly procedure, the possible effect on the trial, and whether prior continuances were granted." *In re V.R.R.*, 134 Wn. App. 573, 581, 141 P.3d 85 (2006). Its "decision to grant or deny a continuance is subject only to review for abuse." *Harris v. Drake*, 116 Wn. App. 261, 287, 65 P.3d 350 (2003). None of the authority provided by Abdulwahid supports his position that the trial court abused its discretion.

Abdulwahid's reliance on *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d at 498, and *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d at 369, is misplaced. Those

cases apply "when the trial court excludes untimely evidence *submitted* in response to a summary judgment motion." *Keck*, 184 Wn.2d at 369 (emphasis added). Abdulwahid never submitted evidence on which the court could rule, and the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished those cases. *Abdulwahid*, slip op. at 14; *see* CR 56(e).

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